HNN D NE C02

CLADE INVERTROMIE

This burial ground was surveyed as an RSFE volunteer vroject in
Wovember 1987. Enguiries locally and research in the Eighland rolk
jmseum library preduced a guantity of information about the recent
history and use of the burial ground.

Description

The burial ground at Invertromie is on the west side of the river
Tromie, nearly a mile south of its confluence with the Spey, at LGR
KN 784999 . here a pitted gravelly teerace rises just over 50! (15m)
above the flood plain, and a sinuous drystone dyke hugs the foot of its
steep slope between Invertromie rarm and the meander by Trbmie idlls.
The burial ground is a sub-rectangular walled enclosure about 96! x 65
(29m x 20m) contiguous with the dyke, the long axis being kw - Sk,
Qutside it between the dyke and the steep slope there is a send-circular
area of very uneven stony ground, slightly higher than the flood plain.
Some of the stones here may be from field clearance.

The drystone dyke, which is up to about 5t¢" (1.,7m; high, is
battered on both sides, with a band halfway up, and finished with
coping stones. The wall around the burial ground is superficially
similar though not quite so high, except on the south west side, vhere
it continues the line of the dyke. It is mortared, with a slightly
battered exterior face and coping stones above, The ground level within
the enclosure is slightly higher than outside, and all round the edge
there is a sloping bank, up to 6' {1.8m) wide, cencealing most of the
interior face of the wall, except on the south west side. In places the
bank has fallen away siightly, and some stretches of the wall, especially
on the south east side, have slumped inwards, broken in sectiongs, and
partly fallen. The method of construction seems to have been to build
the wall as a revetment against en earth bank on the inside face. 1% is
difficult to assess the relationship between the drystone dyke and the
enclosure wall at the west corner, but at the south cornmer it is clear
that the exterior face of the enclosure wall butts up against the dyke,
whivh ends within the corner, indicating that the enclosure wall as it
stands is later than the drystone dyke. The north and east corners are
rounded.

The entrance is almost central on the south west side, 3'7" {(1.1m;
wide, between pillars 2° (0.6m) square, built of oprosing dressed slabe
with rough store between, topped by stone blocks, and sup.orting a
sirple iron gate. nere are signs that this is a replacement of an
earlier gate, hung differently.

The burial area is overgrown, but some stones were readily

vigible, and modest clearance of vegetation and small sections of tuxf



revesled several more, almost all within the south eastern half (see
plan). ‘here arc sixteen recumbent stones: a few are uneven in shage,
and were probably selected from stones lccally available for their
elongated, roughly rectangular shape. The rest are cut neatly to a
rectangular shape, and at least six of these are inscribed, tiough one
ig onlv .artly legible. Iwo groups of stones are in rows, sone sO close
to each other as to overlap. In addition to these flat slabs, there
are several veritiecal slabs, possibly naturally shaped, of heignts up
to 1'6" (0.45m), and a larger number of smaller upright slabs or oval
boulders, none more than &" {C.15n; high. Some of these are set at the
ends of recumbent slasbs; the others presumably mark the heads or feet
of graves. lone have any inscription on them. The pattern of flat slabs
and upright stones suggests that there were seven rows of burials within
the area, and the orientation of the graves was south west - north east.
The inscribed stones all comuemorate Stewarts and their wives (iacuonald,
lacrherson; except for one to ¢ Ferguson, and those which are dated
conmemorate deaths occurring between 1807 and 1839.

| 4 trench in the field beside the burial ground shows that the
s0il is probably sandy with meny rounded pebbles — not too difficult %o
dig, i.0lehills have obviously contributed to the covering of sone of
the stomes.

The approach to the buriel ground is by a track, from the south,
plainly visible where it descends diagonally the stéep slope of the
adjacent terr:zce, and still easy to folleow as a scarcely used track
leaving the B 970 besice a dyke, but there are short stretches between
these two and the burial ground where it is difficult to trace.

This burial ground is in an inconspicuous place, low lying on the
edge of the flood plain end tucked in zgalnst the slope of the higher
plateau. Its situation contrasts with that of the old burial ground =zt
Lineraig, on a hillock beside Loch Insh, and tae Turial grourd =zt
Kingussie, on a hillock within the town. Although the soil should be
well drained, there could have been problems in digging graves ai times

when the water table was high.

Listory

Uladh Invertrorie has several names.

On the (rdnance Survey nap it is narkea as 'Cille nan Ceatharnzch’
and the Ordnance Survey llame Took, compiled in 1870, gives Yill nan
{eatharnacl, noting that “there is no historical nor traditional
information to be obtained abvout it'. The name was given by ixr rleming
of Ballindalloch, .r ic:herson of Killihuntly, and was on the estate
plan. This name would mean that it was the burial ground (or chapel; of

the soldiers, heroes, freetooters, or even robbers.



;aleoln Fraser, whose grandfather farmed at Invertronie, referred to
it as St Colman's, and said that it was very old, anc that at one iice
there was a chapel outside the wall. Stewarts fron Lynaberack were buried
there, and the last turial, about 1922, he ti.ought, was ilec iac-sregor's
grandmother.

The nare St Colman's is sup,orted by a manuscript notevook of A...
wattls, which includes among place nares supplied by one L hattray “wladh
ra Chalmaig or Clach ma Calamic - St Colman's Chapel Yard by Tromieside
and down by Invertromie rarm", and Sinton, ir 'roetry of badenoch' (1906
225~231) refers to (ladh rachaliaig - the chapel yard of 5t Colman's, at
Invertromie; so this name was known at the turn of the century.

ralcolm Fraser did not know the name Cill nan Ceatharnach, and iAlec

and iss lacwregor kmew of this bu.ial ground only as Cladh Invertrouie,

just across the river from the burial ground, in 1843, and was succeeded
as riller by theirfather and then by 4lec himself. They renemvered a lot
of useful information, «nd sazid that the dyke round the plot was renewed
when they were young, the work being done by Charlie l.ac-herson of
ringussie; there was no building of any sort insite or outside the

burial ground, and the stones were -zlways flat. The people buried there
would be from Urumguish, and from Insh and Lynaberack: they were buried
there pertly to save walking, as the deceased had to be carried to burial
grounds, few people heving carts, and partly because soretimes it wasn't
possible to cross the Spey or the ‘rmie to take bodies for burial at
Kingussie or Kincraig. There was also a burial ground on the lLuidae road.
iany of the people buried there would be lacrhersons. The last burial was
that of their gzrandmcther, selen raciherson, who died in 1926, and lies
under a stone bearing the names of her husbend, a Ferguson, and his parents.
They could not remember that grandfather, who died sowe time before his
wife, The burial ground was no longer used because it was full. There
had sometines been problers with the weter level. At one time there was
an iron emge thers, which was used to protect graves in the days of the
body snatchers,

This leaves us with something of a puzzle. 1f the nane Uill nan
Ceatharnach was known to ».r Fleming of Zallindailoch and .rx lacrfherson of
kKilliehuntly in 1870, it seems odd that the name is not now known to the
descendants of people living at Invertrmie Yarr and Lromie 1:ills at the
time. It is also strange that while ‘:atcolm rraser knows it as St Colzan's,
which is supported by Sinton's book, the lacYregors know it only as Cladh
Invertrormie; surely since their grandfather had moved to the iills in 1843,
and their maternal grandnother was buried there, any other name would have

been known to trem; besides, living just across the river, any new



interrents or other activity such as the renewing of the wall would heve
been a subject of co.rment; any cother name current would surely have been
mentioned.

For the moment these inconsistencies rust rezzin unresolved, together
with the probler of vhether there was ever a chapel there or not. Thers
could be a rectanguler outline on the stony area just outside the greveyard
wall, vut it is not =t &1l certain, and could be z fortuitous shape in the
uneven surface.

There are z nurbper of Irish saints called Colman, who flourishecd in
the fifth and sixth centuries; two whe had some Scottish connections were
St Colren of Lamn wlo (555-611; who visited S% Columba on lona more than
once, end St Coluan of Lindisfarne (died €7€, who became a monk on lona,
later succeeded 5t Finan as bishop of Lindisfarne, but after the Symed of
Whitby Tetired to lreland. (attwater, Penguin Dictlonary of Seinto). If
the dedication to St Colman is correct, it does siem likely that there was
orice & srall cell at this site; other dedications in the area suggest
fzirly early foundations: St Colurba's at ringussie, 4t Adorman's at kincreig,
and St Drostan at Balavil.

ine lacYregor's recollection of the rencwing of the wall explains why
the wall as it stands appears to be later than the field dyke; both walls
sre rarked on the 1670 C.S. 6" map., 4t is clear frow

4t ig clear from what the Lacuregors say that burial here was not
restricted to people from Lynaberack, the burial ground being used by
severzl co . unities, sometimes as an alternative il severe veather
prevented access to Lingussie or Hincraig. ine stome Sommemorating their
grzndfather and his parenis, which should be Jjust insiie the gzte, was not
found, which suggests that more stones ray be buried under the turf.

The stones comnemorating the deaths of two younf men, and a mother
with infant child@ren, rust represent only a few of many sad events to
whicn this burial ground bears silent testimmny. Cne more is recounted by
Sinton: the story of the young widow of the tenant at Invertromie; after
remarrying reluctantly, she pined away, and finally died on a hillock
above hingussie, mourning the husband who lay buried across the valley

at Invertrmiie.

further work.

Murther informetion might be gained if the estate plan could be located.
. search through eerly mapgs right help, and i it were possible to sce the
thesis referred to in 'Cld Townships of Zadenoch' by icna ..acrherson, Lreag
Ohivh 1958, more useful references might be found. Ultimately an apueal ofr
informztion throush Creag Ohuth, the Clan *-ackherson nagazine, night be
worth while. idiss Gair, whe lives at Invertrouie +arm, says thal occasimnally

foreign visitors ask for directions to the burial ground, presumably because

they have relatives buried there.
Lty 313 1} o
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Cladh Inveriromie: Inscribved stones, bumbers refer to plan.
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Cladéh Invertromie.
Information gleaned in Highland Folk luseun, Kingussie

Copy of ms. fror notebook of A.L. watt, Corrour, Kingussie - Tpossibly an
an aunt of *“‘alcolm Fraserw Kingusgie - he was bor. C. 1910,
'Some Ilzce Names of Badenoch suplied by L Rattray'
Under '0ld Chapels in the district' are listed several including
Cladh ma Chalmaig 'Clach ma Celamic' - St Colman's Chapel Yard
by Tromieside and down by Invertromie farm; St Mu...ans or
Tirmian - at Nuide beside the old churchyard there, and Tom
Eonan - on the site of the present parish church of Insh-rincraig.

Church and Social Life in the Highlands
Alexander Liacrherson Blackwoods 1893

PE315 Invertromie was long the seat of a family of l.acphersons; like most
other seats of families, invertromie had a butial place.

Poetry of »adenoch
itev, Thomas Sinton Inverness 1906

pp. 229 = 231 hacDhonnachaidh Ruaidh of this ballad belonged to the
lacihersons of Invertromie - the Sliochd Thomais. “e was a noted
hunter, parhaps occasionally a freebooter. fe died young and his
widow was forced by friends to marry against her will the tacksman
of Ardbroileach (justbto the north of Kingussie - RE 758 013). She
often walked up tp Tom Barrai (the hill immediately north of
Ardbroileach, now forested), a bare summit near her new home, from
where she could survey Invertromie, and Cladh hachalmaig - the
chapel yard of St Colman — where her husband was buried. Her health
deteriorated and one day, assisted by two maids to this spot, she
gazed a cross the valley to Invertrmie, sang part of the following
elggy which she had composed, and died. These people can be traced
in various records to the first half CiBth.

The elegy has nine verses and a refrain.

pp. 486-7 <-translation

"Red Duncan's son! 'tis of thee I'm thinking
Hed Duncan's son! 'tis of thee I'm thinking
Red Duncan's son! 'tis of thee I'm thinking
Thou wouldst not be alive and I on bread.

two sample verses:

That I got within four days,

Four great stags and four hinds,

#our burdens of the fish of the river -
tappy the young wife who got the like.

Thou wert the large man in whom was bulk,

Thou wouldst be hither and thither through Tromie;
with thy leister and with thy gaff,

Thou wouldst kill the fish on the top of the waves,

Creag Dhubh - Clan lMaciherson magazine 1958 pp 17 - 22
The ¢1ld Townships of badenoch Liona lacrherson

'remains of several early Christian chapels are seen in the
district. Notable among these .e... St hochalumaig's at Tromie Bridge.'



Information from 0.5. meps and records.

6" map 1870 edition marks Cille nanzCeatharnach
The name book gives Cill nan Ceatharnach - a small enclosure used as
a grave yard. There is no historical nor traditional information
to be obtained about it.
Information from: i Fleming Esq. Ballindallochj lir Merherson,
Killihuntly; and the Estate Plan.

Information from lialcolm Fraser, Kingussie

Ialecolm Fraser's father was bern at Invertromie, where his father
farmed; he left as a young man 7¢.1900 to be a joiner, and Malcolm
Fragser himself was born in Kingussie.

Le said that the burial ground was very old, and was known as 5t
Colman's, which he said is a variation of 5t Columba's - he had never
heard of Cill nan Ceatharnach. The last burial there was about 1922,
and was the burial of Alec racGregor's grandmother - she was known as
"C1d Elley", but he couldn't remember her surname. Stewarts were buried
at Invertromie - they lived at Lynaberack, in Glen Tromie, on the west
side of the river (c. NN 765 940); they were originally tinkers and
came over from Aberfeldy; till recently a lot of tocal engineers,
blacksmiths and joiners were Stewarts.

“here used to be a cha.el at the burial ground, outside the wall,
near the gate,

Information from Jessie Gair, Invertromie

Fiss Gair lived =t Inveriromie farm from c. 1942,

She said that there was no trace of any building by the burial
ground. There used te be more stones visible and some of them stood
upright. She and another person were once planning to clear ther of
vegetation. reople from Lew rezland and Canada have come to ask szbout the bu
the burial ground because they have relatives there.

ilec liacGregor was the person to ask.

Information from Alec and Grace l.cGregor.

The LacGregor's grandfather went to Trmie 1.ills in 1843. Their father
took over the mill and in turn 4lec took it onj; milling stppped in 1946.°
They moved to Drumguish in (7 c1968).

The only name the lcuregors know for the burial ground is Cladh
Invertromie - the Invertromie burial ground. They sald there was no
building of any sort inside or outside the burial ground, and that the
stones were zlways flat. “he dyke round the plot was renewed, and
probably a new gate put in, when they were young -« it was rebuilt by
Charlie lacFherson of Lingusgie. (this mmust have been late 1900s -
early 1910s)

The people buried there would be frowm Drumguish, and some from Insh,
and Lynaberack - they were buried there partly to save walking, as
people had to be carried to burial grounds, few ceople having carts
and also because scmetimes it wasn't possible for people from Lynaberack
to cross the Tromie or the spey to take bodies for burial at Fincraig
or Kingussie, There was also a burial ground on the luide road.

come of biir Ian Bacihersors relatives would be buried at Cladh
Invertromie (all this area is lLacFherson country = Clan luseum at
lewtonmore )

The last burial was the [.cGregor's grondmother = Lelen .iacrherson
whe was married to T7% Ferghison; she was buried under a stone which
bears the names of her husband and kis parents, in 1926. lier husband
had died some time beffre - the laGregors couldn't remember him. ‘The
burial ground ceased to be used because it was full. “here were
sometimes problemd with the water level too. At one time there was
an iron cage there, which was used in the days of body-snatchers.



